IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SERGIO CORONA,

Petitioner,

CASE NO: SC06-1054

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT FIFTH DISTRICT, FLORIDA

MR. CORONA'S AMENDED BRIEF ON MERITS

STEVEN G. MASON, ESQUIRE STEVEN G. MASON, P.A. 1643 HILLCREST STREET ORLANDO, FLORIDA 32803 TELEPHONE (407) 895-6767 FACSIMILE (407) 895-2090 ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE(S)

TABLE OF CONTENTS
TABLE OF AUTHORITIESiv-viii
THE RECORD1
APPELLATE PROCEDURE2-3
TRIAL COURT PROCEDURE
TRIAL COURT TESTIMONY4-11
STANDARD OF REVIEW11-12
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT12-15
ARGUMENT
POINT ONE: MR. CORONA'S CONFRONTATION RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED AND BECAUSE THE STATE'S HEARSAY WAS INADMISSIBLE, CORONA IS ENTITLED TO A JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTALOR, AT A MINIMUM, A NEW TRIAL
POINT TWO: PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT
POINT THREE: CORONA'S STATEMENTS WERE INADMISSIBLE BECAUSE THE STATE FAILED TO SATISFY THE <i>CORPUS DELICTI</i> DOCTRINE OR SECTION 92.565, FLORIDA STATUTES
POINT FOUR: THE LOWER COURT ERRONEOUSLY DENIED MR. CORONA'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS
TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED) PAGE(S)
POINT FIVE: ERRORS WHICH OCCURRED DURING VOIR DIRE ENTITLE MR. CORONA TO A NEW TRIAL

POINT SIX: THE JURY INSTRUCTIONS WERE	
FUNDAMENTALLY FLAWED IN THAT THEY DID	
NOT SPECIFICALLY LIST AND REQUIRE THE STATE	
TO PROVE THAT CORONA WAS EIGHTEEN	
YEARS OF AGE OR OLDER	
CONCLUSION	
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE	
CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE40	
INDEX TO APPENDICES41	
ТАВ	
Opinion from the Fifth District Court of Appeals,	
<i>Corona v. State</i> , 929 So.2d 588 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2006)	<u></u> A
Mr. Corona's Response in Opposition to Motion to Supplement the	
Record and Mr. Corona's Addendum to Response in Opposition	
to State's Motion to Supplement with Deposition not Contained	
in the RecordB	

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES	PAGE(S)
Acosta v. State, 798 So.2d 809 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2001)	<u>29</u>
Adams v. State, 585 So.2d 1092 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991)	<u>28</u>
<i>B.P. v. State</i> , 815 So.2d 728 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2002)	<u>16, 31</u>
Baugh v. State, 961 So.2d 198 (Fla. 2007)	<u>15</u>
Bayshore v. State, 437 So.2d 198 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983)	<u>24</u>
Berger v. United States, 295 U.S. 78 (1935)	<u>28</u>
Boatwright v. State, 452 So.2d 666 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1984)	<u>29</u>
Boyer v. State, 713 So.2d 1133 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1998)	<u>28</u>
Burks v. State, 613 So.2d 441 (Fla. 1993)	<u>31</u>
Campbell v. State, 812 So.2d 540 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2002)	<u>37</u>
Caraballo v. State, 762 So.2d 542 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2000)	<u>28</u>
<i>Chaparro v. State</i> , 873 So.2d 631 (Fla. 2 nd DCA 2004)	<u>16, 31</u>
Clewis v. State, 605 So.2d 974 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1992)	<u>30</u>
Corona v. Florida, 541 U.S. 930 (2004)	<u>2</u>
Corona v. State, 2009 Fla. LEXIS 1598 (Fla. September 23, 2009)	<u>3</u>
Corona v. State, 853 So.2d 430 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2003)	<u>2</u>
Corona v. State, 929 So.2d 588 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2006) TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONTINUED)	<u>2</u>

Crawford v. Washington, 541 U	.S. 36 (2004)	.2, 1	1, 17.	<u>, 18, 21,</u>	22
-------------------------------	---------------	-------	--------	------------------	----

<i>DeFreitas v. State</i> , 701 So.2d 593 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1997)	<u>38</u>
D'Ambrosio v. State, 736 So.2d 44 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1999)	<u>25, 28, 39</u>
Freeman v. State, 717 So.2d 105 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1998)	<u>28, 38</u>
<i>Fuller v. State</i> , 540 So.2d 182 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1989)	<u>27</u>
<i>Fullmer v. State</i> , 790 So.2d 480 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2001)	<u>28</u>
<i>Geiger v. State</i> , 907 So.2d 668 (Fla. 2 nd DCA 2005)	<u>16</u>
Giles v. California, 128 S.Ct. 2678 (2008)	<u>17, 18</u>
<i>Glover v. State</i> , 863 So.2d 236 (Fla. 2003)	<u>39</u>
Gore v. State, 719 So.2d 1197 (Fla. 1998)	<u>27</u>
<i>Henry v. State</i> , 743 So.2d 52 (Fla. 5 th DCA 1999)	<u>28</u>
Hernandez v. State, 946 So.2d 1270 (Fla. 2 nd DCA 2007)	<u>11</u>
In re: Winship, 397 U.S. 358 (1970)	<u>15</u>
Jackson v. State, 2009 Fla. LEXIS 1578, *17 (Fla. 2009)	<u>11</u>
Lane v. State, 459 So.2d 1145 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1984)	<u>24</u>
Langley v. State, 735 So.2d 606 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)	<u>36</u>
Lawrence v. State, 691 So.2d 1068 (Fla. 1997)	<u>17</u>
<i>Lawrence v. State</i> , 829 So.2d 955 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 2002) TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONTINUED)	<u>37</u>
London v. State, 540 So.2d 211 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989)	<u>35</u>
<i>McKeown v. State</i> , 16 So.3d 247 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2009)	<u>28</u>

<i>McKinney v. State</i> , 579 So.2d 393 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1991)	<u>29</u>
Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 129 S.Ct. 2527 (2009)	<u>17</u>
Morgan v. State, 700 So.2d 29 (Fla. 2 nd DCA 1997)	<u>24</u>
Norman v. State, 379 So.2d 643 (Fla. 1980)	<u>36</u>
Page v. State, 733 So.2d 1079 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)	<u>29</u>
Peterson v. State, 810 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002)	<u>31</u>
<i>Rodriguez v. State</i> , 493 So.2d 1067 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1986)	<u>30</u>
Ruiz v. State, 743 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1999)	<u>11, 27</u>
Ryan v. State, 457 So.2d 1084 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1984)	<u>38</u>
Skanes v. State, 821 So.2d 1102 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2002)	<u>28</u>
Springle v. State, 613 So.2d 65 (Fla. 4th DCA 1993)	<u>35</u>
State v. Contreras, 979 So.2d 896 (Fla. 2008)	<u>13, 20</u>
State v. Coron, 411 So.2d 237 (Fla. 3d DCA 1982)	<u>35</u>
State v. Cutler, 785 So.2d 1288 (5 th DCA 2001)	<u>28</u>
State v. Glatzmayer, 789 So.2d 297 (Fla. 2001)	<u>11</u>
State v. Hosty, 944 So.2d 255 (Fla. 2006) TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONTINUED)	<u>22</u>
State v. Lopez, 974 So.2d 340 (Fla. 2008)	<u>20</u>
State v. Rivas-Marmol, 679 So.2d 808 (Fla. 3d DCA 1996)	<u>35</u>
State v. Scruggs, 563 So.2d 717 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1990)	<u>11</u>
State v. Smith, 641 So.2d 849 (Fla. 1994)	<u>35</u>

State v. Talbert, 836 So.2d 1077 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2003)	. <u>20</u>
Tennyson v. State, 469 So.2d 133 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985)	. <u>35</u>
<i>Thomasset v. State</i> , 761 So.2d 383 (Fla. 2 nd DCA 2000)	. <u>36</u>
<i>Tindal v. State</i> , 803 So.2d 806 (Fla. 4 th DCA 2001)	. <u>28</u>
White v. Illinois, 502 U.S. 346 (1992)	. <u>22</u>
Whitfield v. State, 549 So.2d 1202 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 1989)	. <u>29</u>
Williams v. State, 10 So.3d 218 (Fla. 3 rd DCA 2009)	. <u>28</u>
Young v. State, 803 So.2d 880 (Fla. 5 th DCA 2002)	. <u>11</u>

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES (CONTINUED)

OTHER AUTHORITIES	PAGE(S)
Fifth Amendment, United States Constitution	<u>passim</u>
Fourteenth Amendment, United States Constitution	<u>passim</u>
Fourth Amendment, United States Constitution	<u>32, 36</u>
PHILIP J. PADAVANO, <i>FLORIDA APPELLATE PRACTICE</i> , §13.9 (2004)	<u>19</u>
Rule 3.191, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure	<u>4</u>
Section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes	<u>4, 20-22</u>
Section 92.251, Florida Statutes	<u>12</u>
Section 92.565, Florida Statutes	<u>31</u>
Section 942.03, Florida Statutes	<u>3, 12</u>
Sixth Amendment, United States Constitution	<u>passim</u>

THE RECORD

In this brief, the Petitioner, Sergio Corona, will be referred to as "Mr. Corona" or "Corona." The Respondent, State of Florida, will be referred to as the "state" or the "prosecution."

The (original) record prepared by the Clerk of the Circuit Court is six volumes consisting of court orders, pleadings, and hearing transcripts.¹ References to the record will be designated by the letter "R," followed by the volume number and a slash, followed by the appropriate page number, i.e., (R1/1). The trial transcripts (labeled Volumes I and II) will be designated by the letter "T," followed by the volume number and a slash, followed by the appropriate page number, i.e., (TI/1).

After the United States Supreme Court remanded, the Fifth District Court of Appeal required supplemental briefing. After all supplemental briefs were filed, the state requested that a supplemental record be created. See page 19, infra. References to that supplemental record will be designated by the letters "SR," followed by the volume number and a slash, followed by the page number, i.e., (SRI/1).

The second supplemental record created by the Clerk of the Fifth District Court of Appeal and this Court contains the pleadings and orders filed on

¹The Fifth District Court Clerk returned the record to the Circuit Court Clerk where it remains.

appeal--but does not include the pleadings filed with the Supreme Court of the United States.

APPELLATE PROCEDURE

Mr. Corona was convicted and his life sentence was affirmed (via PCA) by the Fifth District Court of Appeal. *Corona v. State*, 853 So.2d 430 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003). Rehearing was denied, 2003 Fla.App.LEXIS 14256 on August 22, 2003.

Mr. Corona petitioned the Supreme Court of the United States for relief and the district court's affirmance was vacated. *Corona v. Florida*, 541 U.S. 930 (2004).

Additional briefing was ordered by the Court of Appeal, including on the issue of preservation. This was an interesting turn of events since the state readily and repeatedly conceded (both before the District Court of Appeal and the Supreme Court) that the Sixth Amendment issue was preserved. In fact, the hearsay testimony was repeatedly objected to (on confrontation grounds) at pre-trial and during the trial itself--to the point of annoying the trial judge.

Mr. Corona, via motion, is requesting that it be forwarded to this Court.

Nonetheless, the District Court ruled against Mr. Corona. The district court found that the Sixth Amendment claim was not preserved, and if preserved, Amy and Victoria were constitutionally unavailable and their pretrial depositions (that were not part of the record and not considered during the trial) constituted prior cross examination under "*Crawford*."² *Corona v. State*, 929 So.2d 588 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006), attached hereto as **Appendix A**.

Mr. Corona petitioned this court for review. The court ordered briefing on preservation and after reviewing the parties' submissions, accepted the case for review on the merits. *Corona v. State*, 2009 Fla. LEXIS 1598 (Fla. September 23, 2009).

TRIAL COURT PROCEDURE

Mr. Corona was charged with capital sexual battery (R5/163). At the time of his arrest in January 2002 he (allegedly) made statements to two Illinois police officers. Five months afterwards these statements were memorialized, reduced to writing, and disclosed to defense counsel (RI/6-50). On June 18, 2002, a discovery violation hearing was held based on this untimely disclosure. The court denied the defense motion to exclude the police officers' testimony (R2/56).

The state requested a continuance because it did not have Mr. Corona's wife and child under subpoena. The state proffered that Mrs. Corona was not

²*Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004)

"cooperating" and would not appear (R2/52, 54). On July 19, 2002, the court granted the state's request to enter an interstate summons under Section 942.03, Florida Statutes (R3/64; R6/208-213).

On July 23, 2002, the defense filed a notice of expiration of speedy trial (R4/67). The state requested that the notice be <u>recalled</u> for a hearing on July 26. (R4/68). Under the state's interpretation that would give them additional time to try Mr. Corona before speedy trial lapsed (R4/68). Over objection, the hearing was continued (R4/68-69).

A (speedy trial) hearing was again held on July 26 (R5/77). The court set the case for trial on August 5, 2002 commenting that it may have to dismiss (under Rule 3.191, Fla.R.Crim.P.) if the state failed to procure its witnesses (R5/74).

The state's witnesses were <u>not</u> present on August 5. Instead, the prosecution filed an amended motion requesting that child hearsay be admitted (R6/224). Because the amended notice was untimely (it was only given to Mr. Corona that morning), the defense objected under Section 90.803(23), Florida Statutes (ten-day notice prior to trial requirement) (TI/4). Nonetheless, the state was permitted to proceed without its witnesses, relying upon hearsay as substantive evidence. Mr. Corona was convicted and sentenced to life imprisonment (R6/253-254).

TRIAL TESTIMONY

4

1. Elizabeth Salgado-Valenti

The state's first witness was Ms. Valenti, an investigator with the Cook County State Attorney's Office in Chicago. Although the court acknowledged that her testimony was tangential and irrelevant (to the truth of the allegations), it nonetheless overruled Mr. Corona's objection (TI/159-160).

Valenti testified that on July 31, 2002 (five days before trial) she was instructed to arrest Victoria and Amy Corona in Illinois to insure their appearance at trial in Florida (TI/161). She and her partner went to Mrs. Corona's last known address on numerous occasions and to her mother's home. They went to a building owned by Mr. Corona and left their cards with the tenants. They did not locate Victoria and Amy Corona.

Valenti spoke with Mrs. Corona on the telephone. She stated that Victoria was uncooperative--she said she was busy and was on her way to the Home Depot (TI/162-163). The police thought they might meet her at the Home Depot but this attempt failed. Later they called Mrs. Corona on her cellular telephone and she hung up. Valenti tried to meet with her by pretending to be a prospective tenant at an apartment Victoria Corona was renting. She was unsuccessful. Valenti could not definitively say that Victoria did not want to testify, and she was unaware of past problems the prosecution may have had with her (TI/169-170). Valenti thought that Victoria was screening her telephone calls.

5

Certified copies of the warrants issued for Victoria's and Amy's arrests were moved into evidence (TI/165).

2. Edward Lacey

Mr. Lacey is a deputy with the Orange County Sheriff's Office (TII/176). On January 25, 2002, he responded to a timeshare resort at 70101 Orange Gate Drive (TII/177). A woman, on the ground, was crying hysterically and spoke in Spanish (TII/177). Deputy Lacey understands very little Spanish. He did not speak with anyone (at the scene) because everyone spoke Spanish (TII/182). Therefore, Jocelyn Avilas, a Spanish-speaking deputy was called to the scene. A detective from the Sex Abuse Child Victims Unit was notified but did not respond (TII/180, 182).

Deputy Lacey did not take Amy Corona's clothing as evidence, nor did he collect any (DNA) samples (TII/181). He did not take Mrs. Corona and her daughter to the police station, the hospital, or the sex crisis' unit. No video or audio taped statements were obtained (TII/181).

3. Jocelyn Avilas

Jocelyn Avilas is also an Orange County deputy (TII/183). On January 25, 2002, she came into contact with a hysterical, Spanish-speaking female, Victoria Corona. Deputy Avilas testified that Mrs. Corona was saying please go get him, you need to go get him (TII/185). Corona's objection was overruled.

Deputy Avilas went to an upstairs apartment and found a little girl in the master bedroom (TII/187). The girl, Amy Corona, was wearing blue shorts. Deputy Avilas asked her about her shorts--would she be lying or speaking the truth if she said that the shorts were black or white?

Again, over objection, Deputy Avilas testified to what Amy told her. She spoke with Amy in Spanish. Amy said she was ten-and-a-half or eleven years old (TII/190). She said that she was on her bed painting and watching television. Her father put his hands on her shoulder and told her that she was pretty. He laid her down on the bed and pulled her panties to the side and put his mouth on her "toto" (TII/191-192). Deputy Avilas recognized this term to mean vagina. Amy said her mother came into the room and started screaming, hollering, and hitting her dad (TII/192). The room was a mess with broken glass.

Normally detectives interview a child victim (TII/194-195). Deputy Avilas was trained in general police investigations not sex crimes or child abuse (TII/195-196). Amy's statement was not recorded, video or audio. She was not taken to the police department or the hospital. Her clothes were not taken as evidence, nor was she examined by a nurse or doctor. No (DNA) samples were collected. Deputy Avilas was uncertain if saliva could produce DNA evidence. No follow up was made (TII/198).

The deputy testified that Mrs. Corona did not indicate that she and her

7

husband experienced any marital problems (TII/202). Again, Corona's objection was overruled.

4. Jerome Maikowski

Mr. Maikowski is a Chicago police officer (TII/205). On January 27, 2002, he assisted a state trooper on a Chicago highway. A van was blocked by a large crowd of people and several vehicles. People in the crowd were yelling at the man in the van--Sergio Corona (TII/207). Maikowski used a Spanish interpreter to speak with Mrs. Corona. They were unable to communicate in English (TII/217, 219-220). Maikowski put Mr. Corona in his squad car and Corona (allegedly) said, "I can't believe I did it. Why did I do it? That's my daughter." (TII/207). Corona made these statements in English and Maikowski understood him (TII/209).

After speaking with the people in the crowd, including an older Hispanic woman, Maikowski returned to his squad car, placed Mr. Corona in handcuffs, and read him his *Miranda* rights (TII/208). The *Miranda* warnings were read in English (TII/209). Maikowski transported Mr. Corona to the police station. On the way, Corona kept repeating that he could not believe he did it, that this was his family, and that he could not help himself (TII/212).

Mr. Corona was again read his *Miranda* rights at the police station. Again, the *Miranda* warnings were given in English. Mr. Corona never signed a *Miranda*

waiver form (TII/218). Mr. Corona said that he pulled his daughter's panties to the side and put his mouth on her genital area. After his wife came in, he got up, ran out, and went home (TII/215-216). These statements were never memorialized in any way (TII/216). In other words, no notes were created and the statements were neither taped nor reduced to writing (TII/217-218). The officer testified that he may be paraphrasing that Corona actually used the words "genital area" (TII/221).

5. Sue Ewald

Ms. Ewald is an Illinois state trooper (TII/224). She was called to a disturbance on the highway where she saw a black vehicle blocking a white Chevy van (TII/225). There were approximately ten people yelling and screaming. Trooper Ewald walked over to another officer's car and was provided Mr. Corona's drivers license (TII/227). For safety reasons she decided they should go to the Chicago police station (TII/228). Trooper Ewald spoke to Mrs. Corona at the station but because her English was difficult to understand, Mrs. Corona's sister was asked to translate (TII/229).

Trooper Ewald read Mr. Corona his *Miranda* rights (TII/230-231). Mr. Corona said that he was in the bedroom with his daughter and that he put his mouth on her vagina (TII/233). Ewald prepared a police report but did <u>not</u> indicate in the report that Mr. Corona made any admissions (TII/234). **One**

hundred thirty-six days after the fact (shortly before trial), Ewald created a report referencing Mr. Corona's statements (TII/239-240). Mr. Corona <u>never used</u> the word vagina. The trooper paraphrased his statement, she could not remember word for word what he had told her (TII/240).

6. Sergio Corona (Defense Witness)

Mr. Corona is a United States citizen and as of 2002 had lived in the country twenty years. He was employed in the construction industry (TII/248). His employees spoke Spanish and he has never had schooling in English (TII/267). He lived with his wife, Victoria, daughter, Amy, son, Kevin, and Victoria's cousin. At home, he and his family spoke Spanish. He thinks in Spanish--when asked a question he thinks of the answer in Spanish (TII/250). Victoria Corona disciplines the children (TII/253). Amy is afraid of Victoria.

Before January 25, 2002, the Coronas were having marital problems and they had discussed that he should move out (TII/250). The Coronas had two arguments while on vacation in Orlando (TII/252). One night Mr. Corona slept in his van. In the past (after arguing with his wife), Mr. Corona stayed at a hotel.

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