IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SERGIO CORONA,		
Petitioner,		
v.		CASE NO.: SC06-1054
STATE OF FLORIDA,		5TH DCA CASE NO.: 5D02-2850
Respondent.	/	

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

WESLEY HEIDT ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #773026 FIFTH FLOOR 444 SEABREEZE BLVD. DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 / FAX 238-4997

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

Corona also stated he was never informed of his Miranda rights by Officer Malkowski, and he never stated he sexually abused his daughter. (T 260, 262-264). He did admit he stated at the traffic scene that he could not believe he had done it; however, he stated that what he meant was that he could not believe he had left his family in Florida. (T 260). When asked why the officers testified differently than his version of events, he testified that both of them were not telling the truth. (T 264, 285).

Under Florida's harmless error analysis, the reviewing court must determine

"whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict." State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986); see also Blanton, 978 So. 2d at 156. In the instant case, the State submits that there is no such possibility. The jury heard evidence that officers responded to a situation in Orlando which led to Corona leaving his entire family there. There was broken glass and signs of a struggle. (T 192-193). The jury also heard that this same family surrounded Corona at an intersection only two days later and tried to remove him from his car. Additionally, the jury heard the statements Corona made at the scene repeatedly stating that he could not believe he had done this to his daughter. Lastly, and most importantly, the jury heard two different officers testify to the detailed confession Corona gave as to how he sexually abused his daughter. Combined with this was the completely inconsistent version given by Corona. His wife attacked him for no reason. He drove 18 hours leaving his family just to get away from his wife. For no known reason, his family surrounded his car. He made statements, but no admissions, was not read Miranda, and never admitted to any improper acts. The jury properly heard all of this evidence and found Corona guilty. Clearly, any error in admitting the victim's hearsay should be found to be harmless.

POINT II

PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO SHOW FUNDAMENTAL ERROR BASED ON THE CONDUCT OF THE PROSECUTOR.

Corona's second point is that the prosecutor's combined conduct throughout the trial constituted fundamental error. The State disagrees.

As this Court explained in <u>Card v. State</u>, 803 So. 2d 613, 622 (Fla. 2001), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>Card v. Florida</u>, 536 U.S. 963 (2002):

As a general rule, the failure to raise a contemporaneous objection when improper closing argument comments are made waives any claim concerning such comments for appellate review. See, e.g., Brooks v. State, 762 So. 2d 879, 898 (Fla. 2000); McDonald v. State, 743 So. 2d 501, 505 (Fla. 1999). A timely objection allows the trial court an opportunity to give a curative instruction or to admonish counsel for making an improper argument. See Nixon v. State, 572 So. 2d 1336, 1341 (Fla. 1990). The exception to the contemporaneous objection rule is where the unobjected-to comments rise to the level of fundamental error, which has been defined as error that reaches down into the validity of the trial itself to the extent that a verdict of guilty or jury recommendation of death could not have been obtained without the assistance of the alleged error. See McDonald, 743 So. 2d at 505 (quoting Urbin, 714 So. 2d at 418 n. 8); Chandler v. State, 702 So. 2d 186, 191 n. 5 (Fla. 1997) (holding that for an error to be raised for the first time on appeal, the error must be so prejudicial as to vitiate the entire trial).

Corona's claim is broader than just closing argument; instead, it appears he is attacking the entirety of the State's case and prosecutor's actions. Regardless, given that the issue presented to this Court was not preserved for appeal, Corona

must show that the alleged error rendered the entire trial unfair, and it is the position of the State that he fails.

Specifically, the questioned conduct during voir dire was only very limited. The State's entire questioning was only a small part of voir dire. (T 109-125). The last page of questioning the prosecutor asked a few questions has to the duty of a parent and the duty of the State to protect children. (T 124-125). Corona alleges this was an attempt to attack Mrs. Corona. Mothers are never even mentioned during this limited questioning; therefore, the allegation by the defense would be a reach at best and is far from fundamental error.

Corona also challenges the prosecutor's cross-examination of him. Although admitting that defense counsel asked Corona if the law enforcement officers were lying and essentially opened the door, here on appeal, Corona submits that not only were those questions by his attorney improper but that even though it led to the prosecutor's follow-up on cross-examination the prosecutor's actions created fundamental error. The State disagrees. Clearly, a defendant cannot invite error then raise the response to such on appeal. See Goodwin v. State, 751 So. 2d 537, 544 (Fla. 1999); Norton v. State, 709 So. 2d 87, 94 (Fla. 1997). The prosecutor simply got Corona to address which statements by the officers he believed to be incorrect. There has been no showing of fundamental error.

As to closing, the defense basically began its closing flat out telling the jury that the mother and the victim refused to come look them in the eyes (over the State's objection). (T 297-298). Then, in response, the prosecutor did address its failure to produce Mrs. Corona and the victim. (T 316). However, it is the position of the State that such closing is not fundamental error; instead, it was the duty of prosecutor to address the defense's position. The Fifth District Court of Appeal so held in <u>State v. Dix</u>, 723 So. 2d 351, 352 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), writing:

The state has a right, and in fact a duty, to respond to the explanation of the charges given by the defense, because to ignore the defense is to give it credence.

Like in <u>Dix</u>, the prosecutor in this case was simply responding to Petitioner's argument.⁴

_

⁴ Interestingly, the trial court commended both counsel at the conclusion of the case for their excellent representation during the trial. (T 340).

POINT III

PETITIONER'S CONFESSION WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED.

Corona's next point is that his statements and confession were improperly admitted. The State disagrees.

This issue should be found not to be preserved for appeal. To preserve an objection that the State failed to prove a crime was committed prior to the admission of a confession, the defense must make a contemporaneous objection.

Martin v. State, 911 So. 2d 821 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005). Petitioner did not. Additionally, this Court has clearly held that upon failure to make a contemporaneous objection the issue is waived given that it is not fundamental in nature. J.B. v. State, 705 So. 2d 1376 (Fla. 1998).

Corona submits the pre-trial argument was sufficient to overcome the preservation requirement; however, as to corpus delicti, such an objection would be premature given that it is not until the time of trial when the confession is admitted that a court could properly determine whether the State has shown that a crime was committed. It would be similar to a pre-trial motion for judgment of acquittal. Considering the fluid nature of all trials, clearly, a trial court cannot rule in advance on such matters.

POINT IV

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED CORONA'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

Corona's next point is that the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress. The State disagrees.

This Court has clearly set out that a trial court's ruling on a motion to suppress comes to the appellate court clothed with a presumption of correctness, and the reviewing court must interpret the evidence and reasonable inferences and deductions derived therefrom in a manner most favorable to sustaining the trial court's ruling. See Pagan v. State, 830 So. 2d 792, 806 (Fla. 2002). The reviewing court is bound by the trial court's factual findings if they are supported by competent, substantial evidence. Id. However, a trial court's determination of the legal issue of probable cause is subject to the de novo standard of review. See Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690 (1996); Connor v. State, 803 So. 2d 598 (Fla. 2001).

The defense filed a motion to suppress Corona's statements, and a hearing was held on June 19, 2002. (R 77-155). The State presented three witnesses at this hearing: Officer Malkowski, Trooper Ewald, and Mrs. Corona. (R 82-143). The court next heard legal argument from both sides. (R 144-154).

On June 26, 2002, the trial court entered a detailed order denying the

defense's motion to suppress. (R 191-203). Included in this order was a finding that the officers in Illinois had probable cause to arrest Corona given that they reasonably believed he was a suspect in the commission of a felony. (R 197). Next, the court found Corona's initial comments to the officer to be spontaneous and voluntary and not the result of interrogation. (R 199). Finally, the court found the additional comments made by Corona to the officers were made voluntarily after proper Miranda warnings. (R 199-202).

Corona submits there was no probable cause to arrest him at the traffic scene. However, based on the evidence at the hearing, the trial court found otherwise. Under Florida law, an officer can make a warrantless arrest if he reasonably believes the person he is arresting has committed a felony. See section 901.15(3), Fla. Stat. (2001). While this arrest was made in Illinois, the trial court set out the comparable Illinois statutes and found that probable cause existed. Supporting this is the testimony of the two officers at the scene who were told by Corona's family members what he was accused of in Florida coupled with the statements spontaneously made by Corona in the officer's vehicle.

Furthermore, even if the initial arrest was found to be tainted, such taint should be found to have been purged. As this Court set out in <u>State v. Frierson</u>, 926 So.2d 1139 (Fla. 2006), there are three factors to be considered to determine if the taint is purged: (1) the time elapsed between the illegality and the acquisition

of the evidence; (2) the presence of intervening circumstances; and (3) the purpose and flagrancy of the official misconduct. <u>Id.</u> at 1143; <u>see also Golphin v. State</u>, 945 So. 2d 1174 (Fla., 2006), <u>cert. denied Golphin v. Florida</u>, 552 U.S. 810 (2007). In essence, the officers responded to a chaotic scene where Corona's family members were very upset, stopping traffic, and attempting to get him out of his vehicle. Knowing nothing, they placed him into the officer's car for his own safety and to stabilize the situation. Corona himself then makes incriminating statements. Then, the family members detailed facts that showed a capital sexual battery. If this was not probable cause for an arrest, it at least was very minor "misconduct." Add to that more facts and information from the Florida authorities, and multiple readings of <u>Miranda</u>, and it would appear the evidence should be found to have been properly admitted.

The trial court entered a detailed order addressing each and every claim made by defense counsel. There has been no showing that such order should be reversed.

POINT V

VOIR DIRE WAS PROPERLY CONDUCTED, AND PETITIONER HAS FAILED TO SHOW FUNDAMENTAL ERROR.

Corona's next point is that the trial court committed fundamental error during voir dire. The State disagrees.

Corona presents three alleged errors during voir dire which were allegedly committed by the trial court. There was no objection to these; therefore, they would have to rise to the level of fundamental error vitiating the entire trial process. Randall v. State, 760 So.2d 892, 900-01 (Fla. 2000); Garcia v. State, 939 So. 2d 1082 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006). Furthermore, the defense counsel accepted the jury when it was sworn with no objections, again, showing he waived any issues on appeal. See Randell v. State, 938 So. 2d 542 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006)("By failing" to renew his motion before the jury was sworn, Randall failed to preserve his motion."); Berry v. State, 792 So. 2d 611 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001) (treating defendant's motion for mistrial as motion to strike jury panel and finding defendant failed to preserve motion by not renewing it before jury was sworn); Barnette v. State, 768 So. 2d 1246 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000) (holding that by failing to renew an objection concerning jury selection appellant did not preserve the issue for appellate review); see also Joiner v. State, 618 So. 2d 174, 176 (Fla. 1993) ("We agree with the district court that counsel's action in accepting the jury led to a reasonable assumption that he had abandoned, for whatever reason, his earlier objection. It is reasonable to conclude that events occurring subsequent to his objection caused him to be satisfied with the jury about to be sworn.").

Specifically, the three alleged errors were restriction of defense counsel's attempt to get a juror to define reasonable doubt, comment upon the right to remain silent, and a reference to the O. J. Simpson case. The supposed Simpson reference was at the very beginning of voir dire when the court simply stated that there are two ways to pick a jury – do like California and take months or do like Florida and pick one in an afternoon. (T 75). The court then stated that the more efficient model would be followed. That was the extent of this discussion, there was no reference to Simpson, and there was no objection. Clearly, such a statement is not fundamental error.

The next alleged error was defense counsel's attempt to get a juror to define reasonable doubt. (T 126). The court interrupted and explained that the he would not allow them to attempt to define; instead, the question was whether they would accept and follow the definition as set out by the court. Defense counsel expressed no concerns with this limitation and continued her questions. These facts are completely different than <u>Campbell v. State</u>, 812 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002), which is relied upon by Corona. In <u>Campbell</u>, defense counsel was completely

restricted by the trial court, defense counsel objected, requested a side bar, and was repeatedly cut off by the judge. The next day as voir dire continued defense counsel renewed his objection. <u>Id.</u> at 542. Again, trial counsel in the instant case did not object to the court's explanation even once.

The last alleged improper comment by the court was when the court informed the jury that while they may want to hear from a defendant but that it is the State's burden to prove its case, a defendant does not have to testify, and a jury cannot hold a defendant's failure to testify against him. (T 106-107). Not only were there no objections to these comments by the court, they are a correct statement of the law. While such comments by prosecutors during closing have been found to be improper given it is the State making such statements, almost identical comments to the one's in the instant case when made by a trial judge were found not to be fundamental error by this Court. Mendoza v. State, 964 So. 2d 121 (Fla. 2007).

POINT VI

THE JURY WAS PROPERLY INSTRUCTED AS TO ALL ELEMENTS OF THE CHARGED OFFENSE, AND IT SPECIFICALLY FOUND IN A SPECIAL VERDICT FORM THAT CORONA WAS 18 YEARS OF AGE OR OLDER.

Corona's last point is that the jury was improper instructed. The State disagrees.

First, the State would note that there was no objection to the instructions given in this case. (T 293, 338). Jury instructions are subject to the contemporaneous objection rule, and absent an objection at trial, can be raised on appeal only if fundamental error occurred. Archer v. State, 673 So. 2d 17 (Fla. 1996); Pope v. State, 646 So. 2d 827, 828 (Fla. 5th DCA 1994)(to preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must object in the court below, and the objection must be on the same grounds asserted in the appeal).

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